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About Us

The Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) was established on 3 July 2015 as an investor-led 
organisation following the launch of the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors (MCII) on 27 June 
2014.

The role of institutional investors has been recognised as critical in the governance ecosystem by 
the Securities Commission Malaysia (SC) and is encapsulated as one of the recommendations in the 
Corporate Governance Blueprint 2011.

The IIC plays an important role in representing the common interests of institutional investors in 
Malaysia. This industry-led initiative will serve as a platform to shape and influence a broader corporate 
governance culture through, among other means, the effective adoption of the MCII.

The IIC was formally established under the Societies Act 1966 on 29 December 2017.

It is the mission of the IIC to promote effective investor stewardship by influencing higher standards of 
corporate governance within institutional investors themselves and their investee companies through 
the implementation of the following objectives:

  To represent the interests of institutional investors on matters affecting them and to act as 
a conduit between policymakers, regulators and institutional investors in relation to broader 
corporate governance issues;

  To provide vision and strategic direction concerning the development of the Institutional Investors 
Council Malaysia (IIC) and future enhancement to the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors 
(MCII);

  To advocate, provide guidance and monitor the adoption of the MCII among institutional investors 
and encourage institutional investors to become signatories of the MCII; and

  To be the platform to influence good corporate governance culture by public listed companies as 
envisaged in the Corporate Governance Blueprint 2011.

Establishment

Objectives
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On behalf of the members of the Council Board, it 
is my honour and privilege to present the seventh 
Annual Report of the Institutional Investors 
Council Malaysia (IIC).

I am pleased to have the opportunity to write to 
you as the Chair of the Institutional Investors 
Council (IIC). As I begin this note, I would like to 
extend my heartfelt appreciation to the members 
of the Council Board and the Working Committee 
for their unwavering support and dedication. 
This marks my second year serving as Chair, 
and it has been a privilege to contribute to the 
Council’s mission over the past 10 years as a 
committed member. The progress we have made 
is a testament to the collective effort and shared 
commitment of everyone involved in advancing 
our objectives.

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL 
MALAYSIA (IIC)

10 years on from our establishment on 3 July 
2015, the Institutional Investors Council Malaysia 
(IIC)  has played a constructive role by bringing 
together institutional investors in Malaysia and 
continues to be a steadfast advocate for the 
collective interests.  As an industry-led initiative, 
the IIC provides a vital platform for influencing 
and shaping a broader corporate governance 
culture.

In 2024, our efforts centred on deepening IIC’s 
influence in the capital market, strengthening 
member engagement, and reinforcing our 
commitment to governance and sustainability. 
With a combined Assets Under Management 
(AUM) of RM2.6 trillion among our members, IIC 
is strategically positioned to drive meaningful 
change and uphold the highest standards of 
corporate governance.

Now, more than ever, our unified voice as 
institutional shareholders is critical in advocating 
for key governance and sustainability issues 
ranging from the tenure of independent 
directors to board diversity, director attendance, 
remuneration practices, and dividend 
performance. Through the power of proxy voting, 
we can be agents of reform. Let us not forget that 
we are not merely shareholders, we are stewards 
of long-term value.

Furthermore, IIC serves as a key conduit 
between institutional investors, policymakers, 
and regulators. We are honoured to serve on 
the Corporate Governance Council, chaired by 
the Securities Commission Malaysia, where we 
continue to champion policies that strengthen 
market integrity.

Datuk Hajah Nik Amlizan Mohamed
Chairman
Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC)

“Looking ahead, the IIC remains firmly 
committed to promoting governance 
and sustainability, strengthening 
the stewardship role of institutional 
investors, and deepening our 
engagement with key stakeholders.”

Chairman’s
Statement
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2024

In 2024, we initiated several impactful projects 
and achieved significant milestones that further 
cemented our role as a leader in promoting good 
governance and sustainability.

IIC CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2024

A highlight of the year was the successful 
organisation of the IIC Corporate Governance 
2024 conference, held on 5 March 2024 at the 
Securities Commission Malaysia. The event 
was graciously officiated by YB Senator Datuk 
Seri Amir Hamzah Azizan, Minister of Finance 
II. His presence underscored the government’s 
steadfast commitment to promoting 
transparency, accountability, and robust corporate 
governance within the financial sector.

The conference featured five panel sessions, 
moderated by five distinguished individuals and 
comprising 19 renowned local and international 
speakers. Each session was thoughtfully 
designed to provide comprehensive perspectives 
on corporate governance and sustainability. 
A total of 398 participants have attended this 
conference, reflecting a diverse mix of attendees 
from both local and international.

On behalf of the Council Board, I would like to 
extend my heartfelt appreciation to all who were 
instrumental in the conference’s success. This 
includes the Minister of Finance II for gracing 
the program with his presence, IIC council 
members for their invaluable advice and input, 
our sponsors, speakers, moderators, attendees, 
and, not least, the dedicated working group 
that ensured the seamless execution of this 
conference.

ENGAGEMENTS WITH PLCs AND REGULATORS

Engagement with Public Listed Companies 
(PLCs) and the regulator continues to be central 
to IIC’s advocacy work. In 2024, the IIC conducted 
eight significant engagement sessions with 
organisations, including Sime Darby Plantation 
Berhad (now known as SD Guthrie Berhad), 
Westport Holdings Berhad, Top Glove Corporation 
Berhad, DRB Hicom Berhad, Malakoff Corporation 
Berhad, Sapura Energy Berhad, IHH Healthcare 
Berhad and Bursa Malaysia Berhad.

These engagements served as an important 
platform for discussing enhancements in 
corporate governance, long-term value creation, 
and sustainability practices. Our ongoing 
dialogue with Bursa Malaysia Berhad has further 
aligned our initiatives with evolving regulatory 
frameworks. Additionally, the IIC continued to 
leverage its role within the Corporate Governance 
Council to advocate for strong governance 
standards and policy improvements in the capital 
market

WORKSHOPS AND TRAININGS

In 2024, we expanded our collaborative efforts 
with both local and global experts to deliver 
impactful learning opportunities for our members.

IIC has collaborated with the Principles for 
Responsible Investment (PRI) and Capital 
Markets Malaysia (CMM) to develop the 
sustainable investment talent landscape in 
Malaysia.

 The IIC has collaborated with the Principles 
for Responsible Investment (PRI) and Capital 
Markets Malaysia (CMM) to cultivate the 
sustainable investment talent landscape in 
Malaysia.  This initiative marks a global first 
for PRI’s innovative blended learning pilot 
program, which integrates in-person training, 
self-paced e-learning, and virtual classroom 
components to entrench the foundational 
principles of responsible investment and foster an 
understanding of ESG analysis and its practical 
application in day-to-day investment activities.   

In addition to the Responsible Investment 
program, we successfully conducted several 
insightful sessions for our members, including:   
 • A Masterclass on Governance Trends by 

Glass Lewis, hosted at Principal Asset 
Management Berhad,

 • A Workshop on Climate-Related Disclosures 
by S&P Global at KWAP Auditorium, and

 • The Malaysia Digital Infrastructure 
Ecosystem 2024 session, conducted by Mr. 
Tan Tze Meng, MDEC, was also at the KWAP 
Auditorium.

These sessions reflect our ongoing commitment 
to providing members with relevant insights and 
practical guidance.
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PROXY VOTING PLATFORM PROJECT

One of IIC’s most significant ongoing projects 
is the development of a Proxy Voting Platform, 
designed to provide members with a streamlined, 
transparent, and cost-effective mechanism for 
exercising their voting rights.

This initiative aims to foster a culture of active 
stewardship by empowering institutional 
investors to participate meaningfully in corporate 
decision-making. The platform will also serve as 
a local alternative to high-cost proxy systems 
currently in use, offering both greater accessibility 
and efficiency.

I am pleased to share that Phase I of the project 
has commenced and is progressing well. We 
are committed to delivering a robust, user-
friendly tool that enhances corporate governance 
outcomes. A dedicated working group is 
diligently overseeing every facet of the system’s 
development, demonstrating commendable 
commitment and expertise.  I extend my sincere 
appreciation to the Proxy Voting Platform Working 
Group for their unwavering dedication.

CLBG CONVERSION

Another important milestone in 2024 is our 
ongoing transition to a Company Limited by 
Guarantee (CLBG). This strategic shift will 
enhance IIC’s legal and governance framework, 
ensuring greater operational transparency and 
enabling us to pursue our objectives with greater 
focus and accountability. Upon completion, this 
transition will empower us to secure partnerships 
and funding opportunities with greater efficacy. 

FUTURE PLANS

Looking ahead, the IIC remains firmly committed 
to promoting governance and sustainability, 
strengthening the stewardship role of institutional 
investors, and deepening our engagement with 
key stakeholders. We aim to roll out more high-
impact initiatives and enhance our advocacy 
efforts to uphold strong corporate governance 
standards within the Malaysian capital market.

As part of our long-term vision, we are committed 
to advancing the objectives outlined in the 
Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors (MCII) 
and broadening its adoption. A key focus for the 
coming year is to encourage more institutional 
investors to join IIC and become signatories to 
the Code.

In line with our strategic direction, IIC is in the 
process of transitioning into a Company Limited 
by Guarantee (CLBG). Upon the successful 
completion of this transition, we plan to 
introduce a new membership category: Associate 
Membership. This new membership class 
will be open to a wider range of organisations 
beyond institutional investors, including financial 
institutions, public listed companies (PLCs), 
corporates, and academic institutions that 
share our commitment to advancing corporate 
governance and sustainable investment.

This expansion will mark a new chapter for IIC, 
allowing us to diversify our membership base 
and broaden our reach in advocating responsible 
investment and sound governance practices. It 
reflects our ambition to become a more inclusive 
and influential voice in the evolving corporate 
governance landscape.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the IIC continues to be dedicated to 
integrating sustainability, good governance, and 
climate change consideration into investment 
practices. 

On behalf of the Council Board Members, I extend 
my sincere appreciation to the regulators and 
other stakeholders for their continued support.  
My gratitude also goes to members of the 
Council Board and Working Committee for their 
commitment and insights in driving the objectives 
of the IIC.  I would also like to express heartfelt 
gratitude to our members and signatories for 
their steadfast support. 

Thank you.

DATUK HAJAH NIK AMLIZAN MOHAMED
Chairman
Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC)
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Datuk Hajah Nik Amlizan Mohamed
Representing Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan)
[KWAP]

Datuk Wira
Ismitz Matthew De Alwis
Representing Kenanga Investors Berhad

Rejina Rahim
(Adviser)

Husaini Hussin
Representing Private Pension Administrator 
Malaysia

Chairman

Vice Chairman Secretary

Council Member

Treasurer

Members of
the Council Board
(As of 31 December 2024)

Rohaya Binti Mohammad 
Yusof
Representing Kumpulan Wang 
Simpanan Pekerja (KWSP)

Gerald Michael Ambrose
Representing Aberdeen Investments
(Retired on 31 May 2024)

Mohd Farid Bin Kamarudin
Representing Aberdeen Investments
(Appointed on 1 June 2024)

Munirah Binti Khairuddin 
Representing Principal Asset 
Management Berhad
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Council Member

Anouk Hanafiah
Representing Eastspring Al-Wara’ 
Investments Berhad
(Appointed on 1 July 2024)

Datuk Amran Hafiz Affifudin
Representing Khazanah Nasional 
Berhad
(Resigned on 27 March 2024)

Datuk Hisham Hamdan
Representing Khazanah Nasional 
Berhad
(Appointed 1 April 2024)

Muhammad Fitri Othman
Representing Lembaga Tabung 
Angkatan Tentera (LTAT)
(Resigned on 1 September 2024)

Ahmad Farouk Mohamed
Representing Lembaga Tabung 
Angkatan Tentera (LTAT)
(Appointed 1 October 2024)

Syhiful Zamri Bin Abdul Azid
Representing Maybank Asset 
Management Sdn Bhd

Dato’ Rizal Rickman Ramli
Representing Permodalan Nasional 
Berhad (PNB)

Mushida Muhammad
Representing Pertubuhan 
Keselamatan Sosial (PERKESO)

Mohd Najman Md Isa
Representing RHB Asset 
Management Sdn Bhd
(Appointed on 20 May 2024)

Sharifatu Laila Syed Ali
Representing Lembaga Tabung Haji 
(LTH)
(Resigned on 1 March 2024)

Meor Khairi Meor Mohd Bazid
Representing Lembaga Tabung Haji 
(LTH)
(Appointed on 29 May 2024)

Mohd Farid Bin Kamarudin
Representing RHB Asset 
Management Sdn Bhd
(Resigned on 14 June 2024)

Raymond Tang Chee Kin
Representing Eastpring Investments 
Berhad
(Retired on 30 June 2024)
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Members of
the Working Committee

The Working Committee was established to undertake special tasks and/or projects under the 
instructions of the Members of the Council Board.

Members of the Working Committee as of 31 December 2024 were follows:

1. REJINA RAHIM
 Representing Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC)

2. MUAZZAM BIN MOHAMAD
 Representing Permodalan Nasional Berhad (PNB)

3. NOR AZAM YAHYA
 Representing Kumpulan Wang Simpanan Pekerja (KWSP)

4. MADON B MOHD JANI
 Representing Lembaga Tabung Haji (LTH)

5. TEH NOR ALIAA MOHAMAD NADZIM
 Representing Khazanah Nasional Berhad

6. AHMAD NABIL NAZRI
 Representing Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial (PERKESO)

7. AZRINA BINTI SULAIMAN
 Representing Permodalan Nasional Berhad (PNB)

8. NURFATHIN ALIA BINTI ABD AZIZ
 Representing Permodalan Nasional Berhad (PNB)

9. AHMAD ZAHIR MOHAMMED TAHA
 Representing Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera (LTAT)

10. MUHAMMAD AIZZUDDIN BIN HASANUDIN
 Representing Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera (LTAT)

11. ALIA SAMSUDIN
 Representing Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) 

[KWAP]

12. IDORA BAHARUDDIN
 Representing Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) 

[KWAP]

13. WAN NAJWA WAN SULAIMAN
 Representing Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) 

[KWAP]

14. ONG SOON CHONG
 Representing Kenanga Investors Bhd

15. MUHAMMAD FADHIL JAMALUDDIN
 Representing Principal Asset Management Berhad

16. NADJIHAH MOHD DZAIDDIN
 Representing Maybank Asset Management Sdn Bhd

Chairperson



Annual Report 2024 - INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA12

IIC Membership

The Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) is a collective platform for institutional investors 
and qualifying organisations that are committed to promoting good corporate governance (CG), 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) practices, and responsible investment in Malaysia. IIC 
Membership is open to asset owners and asset managers with equity holdings in companies listed 
on Bursa Malaysia, in alignment with the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors (MCII). Through 
a tiered membership structure based on assets under management (AUM), IIC provides a framework 
that encourages broad participation while reinforcing a shared commitment to strengthening investor 
stewardship and accountability in the Malaysian capital market.

As of 31 December 2024, IIC has 31 members made up of the following institutions:

Overview

Members List

1. ABERDEEN INVESTMENTS (formerly known as Aberdeen Standard Investments (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd)

2. AHAM ASSET MANAGEMENT BERHAD (formerly known as Affin Hwang Asset Management Berhad)

3. AIIMAN ASSET MANAGEMENT BERHAD

4. AMANAHRAYA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SDN BHD

5. AMFUNDS MANAGEMENT BERHAD

6. AMISLAMIC FUNDS MANAGEMENT SDN BHD

7. AMUNDI MALAYSIA SDN BHD

8. BNP PARIBAS ASSET MANAGEMENT MALAYSIA SDN BHD

9. EASTSPRING AL-WARA’ INVESTMENTS BERHAD

10. EASTSPRING INVESTMENTS BERHAD

11. FRANKLIN TEMPLETON ASSET MANAGEMENT (MALAYSIA) SDN BHD

12. KENANGA INVESTORS BERHAD

13. KHAZANAH NASIONAL BERHAD

14. KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) [KWAP]

15. KUMPULAN WANG SIMPANAN PEKERJA (KWSP)

16. LEMBAGA TABUNG ANGKATAN TENTERA (LTAT)

17. LEMBAGA TABUNG HAJI (LTH)

18. LIFE INSURANCE ASSOCIATION OF MALAYSIA (LIAM)

19. MAYBANK ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD
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IIC Membership

Members of IIC are entitled to the following benefits and privileges:

Opportunity to participate in IIC-led engagements

 • Engage with public listed companies (PLCs)/investee companies in purposeful dialogue on the 
oversight of strategy, performance, relations with stakeholders, the management of risk, including 
shaping and influencing good CG practices in PLCs.

 • Participate in engagements with regulators on market/industry issues.

Opportunity to jointly promote common objectives, i.e. Environmental, Social and Corporate 
Governance (ESG) agenda/corporate governance (CG)

 • Active engagement with other institutional investors and asset managers to inculcate similar CG 
practices across the board in one platform.

Platform for institutional investors

 • Access to knowledge sharing sessions conducted by institutional investors.
 • Invitation to participate in conference/events organised by IIC/institutional investors at a special 

member rate.
 • Access to networking opportunities with institutional investors from other countries as well as 

international CG bodies.

Value Proposition For Members

20. MAYBANK ISLAMIC ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD

21. MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS WATCH GROUP (MSWG)

22. NOMURA ASSET MANAGEMENT MALAYSIA SDN BHD

23. PERMODALAN NASIONAL BERHAD (PNB)

24. PERTUBUHAN KESELAMATAN SOSIAL (PERKESO)

25. PHEIM ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD

26. PRINCIPAL ASSET MANAGEMENT BERHAD (formerly known as CIMB-Principal Asset Management 
Berhad)

27. PRINCIPAL ISLAMIC ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (formerly known as CIMB-Principal Islamic 
Asset Management Sdn Bhd)

28. PRIVATE PENSION ADMINISTRATOR MALAYSIA (PPA)

29. RHB ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD

30. UOB ASSET MANAGEMENT (MALAYSIA) BERHAD

31. HONG LEONG ASSET MANAGEMENT BHD
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IIC Membership

Aberdeen Investments Franklin Templeton Asset 
Management (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

AmanahRaya Investment 
Management Sdn Bhd

Khazanah Nasional Berhad

Amundi Malaysia Sdn Bhd
Kumpulan Wang Persaraan 

(Diperbadankan) [KWAP]

AHAM Asset Management 
Berhad Hong Leong Asset

Management Bhd

AmFunds Management 
Berhad

Kumpulan Wang
Simpanan Pekerja (KWSP)

BNP Paribas Asset 
Management Malaysia

Sdn Bhd

Lembaga Tabung Haji
(LTH)

AIIMAN Asset Management 
Sdn. Bhd

Kenanga Investors Berhad

AmIslamic Funds 
Management Sdn Bhd

Lembaga Tabung
Angkatan Tentera (LTAT)

Eastspring Al-Wara’ 
Investments Berhad

Life Insurance Association 
of Malaysia (LIAM)

Eastspring Investments 
Berhad

Maybank Asset 
Management Sdn Bhd

UOB Asset Management 
(Malaysia) Berhad

Maybank Islamic Asset 
Management Sdn Bhd

Minority Shareholders 
Watch Group (MSWG)

Pertubuhan Keselamatan 
Sosial (PERKESO)

Pheim Asset Management 
Sdn Bhd

Principal Asset 
Management Berhad

Principal Islamic Asset 
Management Sdn Bhd

Private Pension Administrator 
Malaysia (PPA)

RHB Asset Management
Sdn Bhd

Nomura Asset Management 
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Permodalan Nasional Berhad
(PNB)
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The Malaysian Code for
Institutional Investors (MCII)

The Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors (MCII or the Code) 
which was first released in 2014, was a significant milestone for 
the country as it was the first of such a stewardship code in the 
ASEAN region. The Code is the codification of IIC’s raison d’etre 
and is intended to provide guidance to institutional investors on the 
effective exercise of stewardship responsibilities to ensure delivery 
of sustainable long-term value to our ultimate beneficiaries and/or 
clients.

In its latest iteration which was launched in September 2022, 
the Code, which is voluntary in nature, sets out seven key broad 
principles of effective stewardship by institutional investors, 
followed by guidance to help institutional investors understand and 
implement the principles with an adopt or explain stance to the 
signatories of the Code.

In addition to economic considerations, the MCII advocates that 
institutional investors to ensure that they invest in a responsible 
manner by having regard for corporate governance and by ensuring 
that they emphasise sustainability in the course of their operations.

This Code requires institutional investors to explain how corporate 
governance has been adopted as an investment criteria and the 
measures that they have taken to influence, guide and monitor their 
investee companies.

Under the seven key principles, institutional investors are expected 
to:
 • Disclose the policies on their stewardship responsibilities;
 • Monitor their investee companies;
 • Engage with investee companies as appropriate;
 • Adopt a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest which 

should be publicly disclosed;
 • Incorporate corporate governance and sustainability 

considerations into the investment decision-making process;
 • Publish a voting policy; and
 • Collaborate with regulators and other stakeholders to address 

corporate governance and sustainability concerns or risks 
emerging from such issues as sustainability reporting and 
investing.

The revised Code aims to further strengthen reporting by 
the signatories by providing sufficient information for better 
understanding on the application of the Code. It is hoped that the 
enhanced expectations in respect of the adoption of the principles 
of the Code will be able to raise the bar on how the stewardship 
activities are proactively managed and reported by the signatories.

Overview

MALAYSIAN CODE FOR 
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS (MCII) 

2014 VERSION

MALAYSIAN CODE FOR 
INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS (MCII) 

2022 VERSION
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The Malaysian Code for
Institutional Investors (MCII)

Given our adopt or explain stance, although we recognise that institutional investors are not 
homogenous, in the spirit of greater transparency and accountability as well as in line with effective 
stewardship, signatories regardless of their size are expected to adopt the principles of the Code by 
highlighting areas of departure as well as measures that will or have been taken, and the time frame 
required for full adoption of the Code.

All Institutional investors are encouraged to be signatories of the MCII. Significant work was made 
to enhance the MCII and it was revised in September 2022 to enhance the recommended principles 
so as to promote better transparency and more effective stewardship responsibilities by creating a 
stronger baseline to be applied by the MCII signatories especially in the areas of active engagements 
with investee companies, ESG and sustainability considerations into the investment decision-making 
process including human rights issues, managing conflicts of interest, and voting policy and guidelines. 
We have taken an adopt or explain stance to better ensure that our expectations as asset owners and 
institutional investors are better served.

As of 31 December 2024, there are 37 signatories to the Code. The signatories are made up of the 
following institutions:

1. ABRDN ISLAMIC MALAYSIA SDN BHD (May 2023)

2. ABERDEEN INVESTMENTS (August 2014)
 (formerly known as Aberdeen Standard Investments (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd)

3. AHAM ASSET MANAGEMENT BERHAD (March 2017)
 (formerly known as Affin Hwang Asset Management Berhad)

4. AIIMAN ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (March 2017)

5. AMANAHRAYA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (January 2021)

6. AMFUNDS MANAGEMENT BHD (April 2021)

7. AMISLAMIC FUNDS MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (April 2021)

8. AMUNDI AALAM SDN BHD (March 2021)

9. AMUNDI MALAYSIA SDN BHD (March 2021)

10. BNP PARIBAS ASSET MANAGEMENT MALAYSIA SDN BHD (December 2014)

11. BNP PARIBAS ASSET MANAGEMENT NAJMAH MALAYSIA SDN BHD (December 2014)

12. EASTSPRING AL-WARA’ INVESTMENTS BHD (March 2021)

13. EASTSPRING INVESTMENTS BERHAD (March 2021)

14. FRANKLIN TEMPLETON ASSET MANAGEMENT (MALAYSIA) SDN BHD (July 2020)

15. FRANKLIN TEMPLETON GSC ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (FTGSC) (July 2020)

16. HERMES EQUITY OWNERSHIP SERVICES (July 2014) - EOS at Federated Hermes Limited 

17. HERMES FUND MANAGERS (July 2014) - Federated Hermes Limited

18. KENANGA INVESTORS BERHAD (October 2017)

19. KENANGA ISLAMIC INVESTORS BERHAD (October 2017)

20. KHAZANAH NASIONAL BERHAD (October 2017)

21. KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) [KWAP] (October 2015)

22. KUMPULAN WANG SIMPANAN PEKERJA (KWSP) (January 2017)

Signatories to the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors (MCII)



INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA - Annual Report 2024 17

The Malaysian Code for
Institutional Investors (MCII)

23. LEMBAGA TABUNG ANGKATAN TENTERA (LTAT) (July 2020)

24. LEMBAGA TABUNG HAJI (LTH) (August 2020)

25. MAYBANK ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (November 2021)

26. MAYBANK ISLAMIC ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (November 2021)

27. NOMURA ASSET MANAGEMENT MALAYSIA SDN BHD (April 2017)

28. NOMURA ISLAMIC ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (April 2017)

29. PERMODALAN NASIONAL BERHAD (PNB) (September 2019)

30. PERTUBUHAN KESELAMATAN SOSIAL (PERKESO) (June 2017)

31. PHEIM ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (Februari 2021)

32. PRINCIPAL ASSET MANAGEMENT BERHAD (May 2018)
 (formerly known as CIMB-Principal Asset Management Berhad)

33. PRINCIPAL ISLAMIC ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD. (May 2018)
 (formerly known as CIMB-Principal Islamic Asset Management Sdn Bhd)

34. PUBLIC MUTUAL BHD (December 2021)

35. RHB ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (August 2020)

36. RHB ISLAMIC INTERNATIONAL ASSET MANAGEMENT BHD (August 2020)

37. SINGULAR ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD (August 2019)

All signatories are expected to report annually their application of the principles of the Code on their 
respective websites, annual reports or other accessible forms. Nevertheless, the signatories to the 
MCII are given a timeframe of one year from the date of them becoming signatories to publish their 
Compliance Statements.
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Report of the
Council Board Members

In 2024, the Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) continued to advance its mission of 
promoting good corporate governance, responsible investment practices, and investor stewardship in 
the Malaysian capital market. At the core of this mission were the members of the IIC, whose active 
participation, insights, and commitment served as the foundation of the Council’s activities and 
advocacy efforts.

Throughout the year, IIC has undertaken a robust calendar of initiatives designed to serve its members, 
enhance market integrity, and engage key stakeholders. These activities were not only focused on 
member development but also strategically aligned with our broader advocacy agenda. By equipping 
members with knowledge and tools, and by facilitating meaningful dialogue between investors, 
regulators, and public listed companies (PLCs), IIC plays a pivotal role in shaping a more transparent 
and accountable corporate landscape in Malaysia.

Among the highlights of the year was the IIC Corporate Governance Conference 2024, which brought 
together leading voices in governance, sustainability, and investment stewardship. This flagship 
event reflected IIC’s position as a thought leader and an influential platform for discourse on pressing 
governance challenges.

The Council also deepened its engagement with PLCs and regulatory bodies through structured 
dialogues and engagement sessions. These efforts aimed to promote improved disclosure practices, 
enhance board diversity, and strengthen fiduciary responsibilities, especially in line with the 
expectations set by the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors 2022.

Complementing these efforts, IIC conducted a series of masterclasses, workshops, and training 
sessions throughout the year. These capacity-building programmes provided IIC members with 
valuable insights into emerging governance trends, ESG integration, shareholder rights, and effective 
stewardship practices. In doing so, they supported the upskilling of institutional investors and 
strengthened their voice as long-term stewards of capital.

As the Council reflects on 2024, it is evident that the activities carried out during the year have not 
only enriched member engagement but also elevated IIC’s role as a catalyst for positive change in 
Malaysia’s corporate governance ecosystem. Detailed summaries of each activity and its impact are 
presented in the following sections.

Overview
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I. IIC CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2024

The Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) was proud to host the IIC Corporate Governance 
Conference 2024 on 5 March 2024 (Tuesday) at the Securities Commission Malaysia. With the timely 
theme “Countdown to 2030: Investing Towards Sustainable Development in Malaysia,” the conference 
sought to underscore the centrality of corporate governance as a foundational element in the nation’s 
journey toward achieving its sustainability goals.

IIC firmly believes that corporate governance is not merely one of the pillars of sustainability; it is 
a critical precondition for addressing broader social and environmental challenges. As such, the 
conference aimed to examine pressing governance issues through the lens of institutional investors, 
in alignment with their core mandate of long-term value creation and stewardship. By fostering in-
depth discussions, the event aspired to catalyse meaningful actions that could elevate standards of 
sustainable investing while reinforcing the competitiveness and attractiveness of the Malaysian capital 
market.

The conference was officiated by YB Senator Datuk Seri Amir Hamzah Azizan, Minister of Finance 
II, underscoring the national importance of the agenda. A total of 398 participants registered for 
the event, comprising a diverse mix of local and international attendees, ranging from institutional 
investors, regulators, public-listed companies, asset managers, and thought leaders in governance and 
sustainability.

IIC would like to extend its sincere appreciation to the Ministry of Finance II for honouring the event 
with their presence. We are also deeply grateful to all our distinguished VIPs, speakers, moderators, 
and participants, without whom the conference would not have been successful. Our heartfelt thanks 
also go to our sponsors for their unwavering support and ongoing commitment to advancing good 
governance and sustainable investment practices in Malaysia.
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II. COMPANY ENGAGEMENTS WITH PLCS AND REGULATORS

In line with the strategic priority to promote stronger corporate governance practices within Malaysia’s 
capital market, the IIC continued its collective engagement efforts with public listed companies 
(PLCs) throughout 2024. These engagements were centred around purposeful dialogues focused on 
key governance areas, including board oversight of corporate strategy, performance accountability, 
stakeholder relationships, risk management, and ESG integration.

Led by Council Members, the engagements reflect IIC’s commitment to exercising effective 
stewardship on behalf of its members. They provide a platform for institutional investors to convey 
expectations and concerns directly to the boards and senior management of PLCs. This initiative, 
which has been an ongoing core activity since 2017, remains integral to IIC’s role in fostering 
transparency, board responsiveness, and long-term value creation.

In 2024, IIC expanded its outreach to include not only board-level discussions with PLCs but also more 
structured engagements with regulatory bodies to promote alignment between investor expectations 
and governance frameworks. These interactions enable IIC to advocate for systemic improvements in 
market practices, policy direction, and regulatory reform.

Over the course of the year, eight (8) engagements were conducted with board members and 
senior management of selected PLCs. The summaries of each of these engagements, including key 
discussion points and outcomes, are detailed in the subsequent sections.

SD GUTHRIE BERHAD
(Formerly Known As Sime Darby Plantation Berhad)

Date of Engagement: 22 January 2024

MALAKOFF CORPORATION BERHAD

Date of Engagement: 8 August 2024

WESTPORTS HOLDINGS BERHAD

Date of Engagement: 16 May 2024

BURSA MALAYSIA BERHAD

Date of Engagement: 26 August 2024

TOP GLOVE CORPORATION BERHAD

Date of Engagement: 9 July 2024

SAPURA ENERGY BERHAD

Date of Engagement: 22 October 2024

DRB-HICOM BERHAD

Date of Engagement: 10 July 2024

IHH HEALTHCARE BERHAD

Date of Engagement: 27 November 2024
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The Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) conducted a collective engagement with SD Guthrie Berhad, 
one of Malaysia’s leading plantation companies. The session was led by Mr. Gerald Ambrose, representing the 
Council, and included a delegation of nine IIC representatives. Sime Darby Plantation was represented by its 
Chairman, Tan Sri Dr. Nik Norzrul Thani, alongside key members of the senior management team.

The engagement covered a comprehensive range of topics and provided IIC members with valuable insight into 
the company’s strategic direction, governance practices, and ESG-related challenges. Key areas of discussion 
included:

• Presentation on financial and operational highlights. This included updates on cost management, 
downstream expansion, and innovation in sustainable agriculture.

• A major focus of the engagement centred on labour practices and the steps taken by SDPB to strengthen 
worker welfare, labour rights, and ethical recruitment practices across its operations. The company outlined 
its ongoing efforts to align with international human rights standards and address stakeholder concerns, 
particularly concerning migrant worker protection and third-party labour audits.

• The engagement also addressed the lingering effects of the U.S. Customs and Border Protection’s Withhold 
Release Order (WRO) on SD Guthrie Berhad’s operations and global reputation. SD Guthrie Berhad updated 
IIC members on the measures taken to remedy past findings, progress made toward lifting the WRO, and the 
company’s long-term commitment to building a more transparent and accountable supply chain.

SD Guthrie Berhad (Formerly Known As Sime Darby Plantation Berhad) 22 January 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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The second engagement was with Westports Holdings Berhad, one of the nation’s key port operators. The 
session was attended by the company’s Executive Chairman and Group Managing Director, Datuk Ruben Emir 
Gnanalingam bin Abdullah, along with five representatives comprising board members and senior management. 

IIC was represented by its Chairman, Datuk Hajah Nik Amlizan Mohamed, alongside Council Members and 
representatives from IIC member institutions. The engagement aimed to deepen understanding of Westports’ 
strategic direction, operational resilience, and governance practices amid the evolving global trade landscape.

Key topics discussed during the session included:

 • Westports provided an overview of its financial performance and operational metrics, including throughput 
growth, investment plans, and capacity utilisation. The company shared its outlook for growth and its 
efforts to enhance shareholder value through long-term infrastructure development.

 • The ongoing disruptions in global shipping routes, particularly due to the Red Sea crisis, were a significant 
focus. Westports outlined how these geopolitical developments have affected regional cargo movement 
and shared how the company is managing operational continuity and maintaining efficiency despite 
external pressures.

 • The company also addressed the restructuring of shipping alliances and its implications for port 
operations. Westports elaborated on how it is adapting to the evolving competitive landscape, including 
strategies to retain and attract major shipping clients in light of alliance realignments.

 • Westports updated IIC members on its ongoing infrastructure and facilities enhancement initiatives, 
aimed at modernising the port and increasing handling capacity. This included investments in automation, 
terminal expansion, and sustainability features to future-proof its operations.

Following the fruitful discussion, the IIC delegation was given a guided tour of the port to observe the scale of 
operations and newly upgraded facilities. The engagement concluded with a luncheon hosted by Westports, 
further strengthening rapport between the company’s leadership and IIC members.

IIC appreciates the openness and hospitality extended by Westports Holdings Berhad and looks forward to 
continued engagement on matters of governance, operational excellence, and long-term value creation.

Westports Holdings Berhad 16 May 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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The engagement session with Top Glove Corporation Berhad (TG) was attended by 16 participants from the IIC 
and nine members of TG’s senior management including independent Board members. The meeting focussed 
on TG’s ongoing efforts in Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) and sustainability, business human 
rights, diversity, and corporate governance.

Key issues discussed included labour practices, client management, and carbon tax. TG stressed their 
commitment in preventing forced labour by adhering to international human rights standards, providing 
grievance channels, and conducting regular audits. In response to client concerns regarding product defects, 
TG has implemented quality improvement initiatives that successfully reduced defects by 54% in FY2024.

Concerning carbon tax, while current regulations do not apply to their industry, TG is proactively preparing for 
potential future impacts by developing an internal carbon pricing strategy and enhancing its greenhouse gas 
accounting. This proactive approach aims to manage costs and ensure compliance with upcoming regulations.

In conclusion, the discussions during the session underscored TG’s commitment to ESG and sustainability 
principles. Overall, TG’s actions demonstrated a comprehensive dedication to integrating ESG principles into 
their business operations and sustainability strategies. 

Top Glove Corporation Berhad 9 July 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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The engagement session was attended by 18 members from the IIC and eight senior management 
representatives from DRB-HICOM; however, none of the Board members were present. Key topics discussed 
included the company’s board composition, environmental, social, and governance (ESG) initiatives, financial 
performance, human capital practices, and labour management.

IIC members did raise issues on the size of the Board which is unusually small despite the size of the business 
of DRB-HICOM.

DRB-HICOM highlighted its sustainability efforts, including a commitment to achieving net-zero emissions by 
2050 and reducing its carbon footprint. The company also shared its progress in adopting renewable energy, 
implementing diversity and inclusion initiatives, and enhancing employee welfare programs. 

The company attributed the success of its financial performance to its diversified business portfolio and 
strategic initiatives. DRB addressed inquiries regarding its compliance with labour standards for migrant 
workers and its practices for working with recruitment agents. 

Overall, the engagement session provided a comprehensive overview of DRB-HICOM’s operations, 
sustainability efforts, and future plans. 

DRB-Hicom Berhad 10 July 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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A total of 21 IIC representatives participated in this engagement session, which focused on the company’s 
strategic efforts to balance the nation’s energy needs with sustainability. Malakoff was represented by nine 
senior management representatives including independent Board members.

Malakoff presented its 2.0 Strategic Transformation, highlighting its approach to addressing the energy 
trilemma by balancing thermal energy, green solutions, and environmental sustainability.

A significant portion of the discussion was dedicated to Malakoff’s expansion in the renewable energy (RE) 
sector, particularly the co-firing of biomass at the Tanjung Bin Power Plant, which aligns with the government’s 
RE targets.

The session also explored Malakoff’s strategy of utilising waste as a source of power generation, leveraging 
the National Cleanliness Policy 2020–2030 to support the circular economy and drive growth in environmental 
solutions.

During the Q&A session, Malakoff’s management addressed inquiries regarding their sustainability strategies, 
including the disclosure of Scope 3 emissions, progress on greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction targets, 
and the feasibility of early retirement for coal plants. The discussions reflected Malakoff’s proactive approach to 
embracing renewable energy, reducing carbon emissions, and supporting the nation’s transition to a low-carbon 
future.

Malakoff Corporation Berhad 8 August 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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The engagement session was attended by 25 representatives from the IIC and 15 from Bursa. The session 
covered a range of topics related to Bursa’s current and future initiatives. 

The discussion began with a review of Bursa’s financial performance for the first half of 2024. Bursa outlined 
its strategic roadmap for 2024-2026, focusing on enhancing the traditional capital market and positioning 
itself as a multi-asset exchange. Additionally, Bursa highlighted its sustainability roadmap, emphasizing the 
exchange’s commitment to building a sustainable marketplace with a strong focus on ESG, supported by 
global collaborations. 

Further discussions addressed Bursa’s DEI Policy, which aligns with national and international standards and 
promotes gender diversity, with notable achievements in board representation. The need for targeted efforts 
to improve corporate performance was emphasized, with support from GLICs deemed necessary to address 
undervalued and underperforming PLCs. 

The discussion also explored the potential for driving greater shareholder activism through a proposed Catalyst 
Fund and Shape-up Programme. The fund aims to enhance corporate performance through management 
interventions and M&A activities. 

The session concluded with a Q&A between Bursa and IIC, covering topics such as ISSB Standards, GHG 
Reporting, the Centralised Sustainability Intelligence (CSI) Solution, the Bursa Carbon Exchange, the ASEAN 
Sustainability Ecosystem, climate-focused IPOs, female board representation, corporate governance, and Net 
Zero Commitment. The IIC members questioned Bursa’s representatives on the targets of the new initiatives 
launched but no clarity was received from them. 

Bursa Malaysia Berhad 26 August 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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The engagement with Sapura Energy Berhad (SEB) on 22 October 2024 attended by 14 IIC Members 
Representatives focused on corporate transparency and sustainability. Datuk Anuar, Group CEO of Sapura 
Energy Berhad, explained that SEB operates in four main sectors: Engineering and Construction, Operations and 
Maintenance, Drilling, and Exploration and Production. 

He discussed the financial challenges SEB faced during the downturn in the oil and gas industry, which led to 
significant debt. To address this, SEB focused on asset sales and a rights issue, which helped reduce its debt. 
Datuk Anuar emphasized SEB’s commitment to making timely payments to vendors and maintaining strong 
relationships. He also highlighted SEB’s sustainability efforts, including initiatives in decommissioning, diversity 
and inclusion, and labour and human rights. 

The session ended with a Q&A from IIC members, where Datuk Anuar and his team provided insightful and 
thorough responses

Sapura Energy Berhad 22 October 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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The engagement with IHH Healthcare Berhad was held on 27 November 2024, and attended by 15 IIC 
representatives focusing on key topics such as net zero plans, talent management, and market expansion.

IHH shared updates on their carbon goals, strategies for new acquisitions like Penang Island Hospital, and 
balancing growth in new and established markets. Sustainability efforts, waste management innovations, and 
health education initiatives were also discussed.

The session provided valuable insights into IHH’s plans and challenges, highlighting their commitment to 
sustainability and governance.

IHH Healthcare Berhad 27 November 2024

Report of the
Council Board Members
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III. WORKSHOP AND TRAINING

(a) Responsible Investment in Practice
 Date : Cohort 1: January 16 & 17, 2024
   Cohort 2: February 6 & 7, 2024
 Venue : Securities Commission 

 IIC, in collaboration with the Capital Markets Malaysia (CMM) provided a comprehensive ESG 
training program designed to enhance the knowledge and skills of our members in this critical 
area.  This was a 6-month programme utilising the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) 
best practice training model: A three-stage approach, including classroom and online training 
modules, to fully entrench in participants a strong, functional understanding and a confident 
fluency when discussing ESG issues.

 This programme provides a comprehensive overview of ESG concepts, covering their drivers and 
origins. Participants learned how to identify and manage ESG risks and opportunities, engage 
confidently with key issues, and understand the influence stakeholders wield over corporate ESG 
performance.

 This training program was offered free of charge to our members as an exclusive benefit to their 
IIC membership status.  The CCM covered the costs associated with the PRI Academy under the 
CMDF funding facilities.
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 The program was conducted in three stages:

 Stage 1: In-person Classroom Training

 Participants engaged in interactive sessions led by experienced ESG experts from the PRI 
Academy. The training covered a broad range of ESG topics, including ESG analysis and valuation 
integration as well as ESG integrated portfolio construction and management.

 For 2024, the ESG in-person classroom training program was structured into two cohorts, with 
each cohort accommodating up to 50 participants. These cohorts were further divided into two 
groups, with 25 participants in each group and were conducted on the following dates:

 Cohort 1: January 16-17, 2024
 Cohort 2: February 6-7, 2024

 All the sessions were held at the Securities Commission.  

 Stage 2: Self-paced Online Learning

 Participants have access to a comprehensive online learning platform where they could further 
deepen their understanding of ESG concepts and practices.  This stage was designed flexibly, 
where the participants could undergo the training at their own pace based on their availability.  

 Stage 3: Refresh, Socialise, and Question (RSQ) Follow-up Sessions

 Periodic RSQ sessions will provide opportunities for participants to revisit key concepts, network 
with fellow participants, and engage in discussions with industry experts. 

 Upon completion of the three elements of the course, including achieving the pass mark in the 
final assessment of the online course, all learners will be awarded a ‘Certification in Responsible 
Investment in Practice’ from the PRI.
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(b) Workshop on Climate-Related Disclosures by S&P Global
 Date : 18 July 2024
 Venue : KWAP Auditorium

 The IIC-S&P Global Joint Training on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures took place on 18 
July 2024. This exclusive event was attended by 18 IIC members and was held at the KWAP 
Auditorium. 

 The training focused on key topics related to climate-related financial disclosures. Participants 
delved into the TCFD and ISSB Frameworks, exploring their guidelines for assessing and 
managing climate risks. Practical examples and real-world case studies were used to illustrate 
how to identify and address climate-related challenges. 

 Additionally, the training covered strategies for achieving net-zero emissions and integrating 
sustainability into financial decision-making. Participants gained insights into the importance of 
considering social and environmental impacts, with discussions on relevant data and trends.

Report of the
Council Board Members
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(c) Masterclass on Governance Trends by Glass Lewis 
 Date :  14 August 2024
 Venue :  Principal Asset Management, TRX

 The IIC-Glass Lewis Joint Training on Global Stewardship and Governance Trends was attended 
by 22 IIC members and was held at Principal Asset Management, TRX. 

 The training was exclusively organised for IIC members. The main areas of focus during the 
training were Key Trends Observed during Malaysian Proxy Voting in 2024, Comparing Trends 
with the Broader Southeast Asian Market, and an Overview of Global Stewardship and Governance 
Trends from the 2024 AGM Season. 
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(d) Malaysia Digital Infrastructure Ecosystem 2024 by MDEC
 Date :  16 October 2024
 Venue :  KWAP Auditorium 

 On 16 October 2024, IIC hosted a Malaysia Digital Infrastructure Ecosystem 2024 session by 
Mr. Tan Tze Ming, Head of Digital Industry Acceleration Division, Malaysia Digital Economy 
Corporation (MDEC). The discussion emphasised the urgent need for Malaysia to enhance its 
digital infrastructure, as highlighted by the World Bank’s report, noting significant gaps in secure 
internet servers compared to regional peers.

 The session also covered the increasing demand for AI infrastructure, particularly the challenges 
of powering advanced systems like NVIDIA’s GPUs. Mr Tan highlighted the necessity for 
renewable energy sources to meet the energy demands of data centres, as well as opportunities 
for new submarine cable routes to improve connectivity. 

 The session concluded with a Q&A segment that touched on issues like water shortages and the 
potential for nuclear energy as a viable supply source, positioning Malaysia as a potential leader in 
this area alongside countries like Indonesia and Singapore.

 Overall, this session underscored the strategic importance of enhancing Malaysia’s data centre 
ecosystem to foster digital growth and economic resilience.

Report of the
Council Board Members
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(e) Masterclass Series: Guide for Corporate Boards in Southeast Asia
 on Climate Action
 Date :  8 November 2024
 Venue :  Institute of Corporate Directors Malaysia (ICDM)

 The Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) was honoured to be represented by Ms. 
Rejina Rahim at Climate Governance Malaysia’s Masterclass Series titled “Guide for Corporate 
Boards in Southeast Asia on Climate Action,” held on 8 November 2024. The session featured a 
distinguished panel including Mr. Philippe Joubert and former Attorney General, Tan Sri Tommy 
Thomas. The discussion focused on the rising risks of climate change litigation in Malaysia, the 
transition from a shareholder to stakeholder economy, and the urgent need for collaboration 
among all sectors to drive meaningful climate action.

 Ms. Rejina, speaking on behalf of IIC, shared insights on how the Malaysian Code for Institutional 
Investors (MCII) positions sustainability as a core strategy. She highlighted IIC’s commitment to 
collective engagement and the belief that collaboration among institutional investors is essential, 
especially considering sobering projections that Southeast Asian economies could face up to a 
15% GDP loss by the end of the century if global temperatures rise by 2°C.

 The session served as an important platform to reaffirm the role of corporate boards and 
institutional investors in driving climate governance and integrating sustainability into long-term 
business and investment strategies.
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(f) Conference of the Parties (COP29), 12-21 November 2024:
 A Parallel Virtual Event
 Date :  12 November 2024
 Venue :  Virtual

 In conjunction with the Malaysia Pavilion at COP29 in Baku, Azerbaijan, Climate Governance 
Malaysia (CGM) organised an online parallel event titled Malaysian Support for COP29. This 
event aimed to highlight Malaysia’s commitment to addressing climate challenges and fostering 
sustainable development.

 The program commenced on 12 November with a keynote address by Datuk Wira Ismitz Matthew 
De Alwis, Vice Chairman of IIC. His address emphasised the importance of collaboration and the 
implementation of effective strategies to build a resilient and sustainable future.

 A panel discussion, Role of the Board: What is Needed for Impactful Transition Finance, was 
also held on 18 November.  Ms. Rejina Rahim, IIC Advisor, shared her perspectives on Malaysia’s 
carbon market potential and the importance of addressing transition risks. She also detailed IIC’s 
company engagement initiatives, which focused on promoting sustainability and supporting net-
zero carbon goals.

 Overall, the event successfully showcased Malaysia’s efforts in climate action, with a particular 
focus on sustainable investments, corporate responsibility, and collaborative efforts to achieve a 
greener and more sustainable future.
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(g) ASEAN Taxonomy for Sustainable Finance Socialisation Event, Technical 

Workshop and Stewardship
 Date :  2 & 3 December 2024
 Venue :  Hanoi, Vietnam

 The workshop took place in Hanoi, Vietnam, from December 2 to 3, 2024. The IIC was represented 
by Datuk Wira Ismitz Matthew De Alwis, Vice Chairman of IIC. During the workshop, Datuk 
Matthew emphasised the crucial role of institutional investors, highlighting the importance of good 
governance and long-term sustainability.
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April 2024 (ii)

Balancing Act for Effective Governance

March 2024

Stepping up Corporate Governance

June 2024

Resign with Reasons

February 2024

In The Name Of Duty And Loyalty

May 2024

Stay On Course with Roadmaps

April 2024 (i)

Higher Stakes for Stakeholders

August 2024

Mopping Up Greenwashing

October 2024

Beta Activism is Here to Stay

Report of the
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IV. PUBLISHED ARTICLES

January 2024

Breaking Out Of The Negative Cycle

September 2024

Towards Fairer Compensation

November 2024

Upholding Duty of Care as a Board Member
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Transitioning IIC to a Company Limited by Guarantee: Progress and Milestones

Background

Following extensive discussions in the Council meetings held in 2022 and 2023, the Institutional Investors 
Council (IIC) made the strategic decision to convert its status from an Association registered under the Registry 
of Societies (ROS) to a Company Limited by Guarantee (CLBG) under the purview of the Companies Commission 
of Malaysia (SSM). This transition is designed to enhance governance, operational efficiency, and long-term 
sustainability.

Progress Made

The first milestone in the conversion process was achieved in September 2023 when IIC appointed a secretarial 
service firm to oversee the conversion process. A name search was conducted, and the Companies Commission of 
Malaysia (SSM) subsequently approved “IICM Berhad” as the new name upon successful conversion to a CLBG.
Following the name approval, IIC embarked on converting its existing constitution into a CLBG-compliant 
constitution. Between March to May 2024, IIC convened several Working Group meetings to draft and refine the 
new constitution, ensuring alignment with the CLBG requirement and best practices. The final document was 
presented and approved by the IIC Council during its June 2024 meeting

Submission of Final Documentation

Throughout the application process, the SSM requested several rounds of additional information. The complete 
set of documentation was successfully submitted in November 2024, marking a crucial milestone in the 
transformation journey.  IIC was informed that the standard processing time for the conversion may take between 
six to nine months from the date of the last submission.  Based on the progress to date, IIC anticipates completing 
the transition to a CLBG by the end of the second quarter of 2025. 

Benefits of CLBG Status

The conversion to CLBG will bring the following benefits:
• Limited liability: Members’ liability will be restricted to their guaranteed contribution in the event of winding up;
• Separate legal entity: CLBG status allows IIC to operate an independent  legal entity, enabling it to enter into 

contracts and own assets in its name; and 
• Enhanced transparency and accountability: CLBG is subject to stricter regulatory oversight, including 

mandatory filing of audited financial statements, fostering greater public confidence.

Major Highlights: Membership Classification & Honorary Membership under CLBG

Under the CLBG structure, IIC will introduce an enhanced membership classification system, expanding beyond the 
existing Ordinary Members. The three membership categories are as follows:

(i) Ordinary Members

This membership class mirrors the existing membership under the association, open to asset owners and fund 
managers.

Ordinary Members will be categorised into three tiers based on their Assets Under Management (AUM), with 
differentiated annual fees:

• Tier 1: AUM ≥ RM 100 billion
• Tier 2: AUM < RM 100 billion
• Tier 3: Industry groups

Feature Article 1
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(ii) Associate Members

This new category will be open to all entities, including public listed companies (PLCs), private companies, other 
associations, foreign entities, and educational institutions as may be decided by the Board. This inclusivity aims 
to provide a platform for gaining knowledge, particularly in Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) matters, 
sustainability, and corporate governance.

(iii) Honorary Membership

A new category, Honorary Membership, will be introduced. This special membership will be conferred solely 
by invitation from the organisation’s Board.  It is intended to recognise individuals or entities with exceptional 
contributions or achievements in the capital market industry.  Applications for this membership will not be open to 
the public.

Note: Other differences between an association and a CLBG are summarised in the attachment.

Conclusion

The transition of IIC to a CLBG marks a pivotal step in strengthening its governance framework, operational 
capacity, and long-term sustainability. With key milestones achieved - including the development of a CLBG-
compliant constitution, submission of final documentation to the Companies Commission of Malaysia, and the 
introduction of a more inclusive membership structure - IIC is well-positioned to complete the conversion by 
mid-2025. This transformation not only aligns IIC with best practices in regulatory compliance and corporate 
governance but also reinforces its commitment to serving the capital market community with greater 
transparency, accountability, and impact.

CLBG : MEMBERSHIP CLASSIFICATION
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Differences Between an Association and a Company Limited by Guarantee in Malaysia

No. Key Area Current (Association under ROS) After Transition (CLBG under SSM)

1 Name Institutional Investors Council (IIC) 
Malaysia

IICM Berhad

2 Objectives a) represent the interests of institutional 
investors on matters affecting them 
and to act as a conduit between policy 
makers, regulators and institutional 
investors in relation to broader 
corporate governance issues;

b) provide vision and strategic direction 
in relation to the development of the 
Institutional Investors Council and 
future enhancement to the Malaysian 
Code for Institutional Investors (Code);

c) advocate, provide guidance and 
monitor the adoption of the Code 
among institutional investors and 
encouraging institutional investors to 
become signatories of the Code; and

d) be the platform to influence good 
corporate governance culture by 
public listed companies as envisaged 
in the Corporate Governance Blueprint 
2011.

a) To represent the interests of 
institutional investors on matters 
affecting them and to act as a conduit 
between policy makers, regulators 
and institutional investors in relation 
to broader corporate governance 
issues as well as to be the platform to 
influence good corporate governance 
culture by public listed companies;

b) To provide vision and strategic 
direction in relation to the development 
of the Institutional Investors Council 
and future enhancement to the Code; 
and

c) To advocate, provide guidance and 
monitor the adoption of the Code 
among institutional investors and 
encourage institutional investors to 
become signatories of the Code. 

3 Legal Structure Registered as a society under the 
Societies Act 1966, with governance 
based on a constitution approved by the 
Registrar of Societies Malaysia (ROS). 
Members have direct influence over 
decisions through general meetings.

Incorporated as a Company Limited by 
Guarantee (CLBG) under the Companies 
Act 2016. It operates as a corporate entity 
with a separate legal identity, meaning it 
can enter contracts, own assets, and sue 
or be sued in its own name. Governance 
shifts to a Board of Directors, with 
decisions made at the board level rather 
than by members.

Feature Article 1



Annual Report 2024 - INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA54

No. Key Area Current (Association under ROS) After Transition (CLBG under SSM)

4 Governance Managed by a council elected by 
members, following the constitution 
approved by ROS. Decision-making 
is more member-driven, with major 
resolutions passed in general meetings.

IIC Governance:
Managed by a Council of 15 members, 
which includes a Council Board 
comprising the Chairman, Vice Chairman, 
Secretary, and Treasurer. 

Governed by a Board of Directors, 
who have fiduciary duties under the 
Companies Act 2016. Decision-making is 
more corporate-driven, with strategic and 
operational matters handled at the board 
level. Members no longer have direct 
governance authority unless specified in 
the constitution. Directors must comply 
with statutory duties, including acting 
in the best interest of the company and 
ensuring regulatory compliance.

IICM Berhad Governance:
• Pioneer Board of Directors: Datuk Nik 

Hajah Amlizan Mohamed & Datuk Wira 
Ismitz Matthew De Alwis

• According to Clause 53 of the IICM 
Berhad Constitution under the Power 
and Duties of the Board of Directors, 
the IICM Board shall consist of not less 
than Two (2) members and not more 
than fifteen (15) members. 

5 Regulatory 
Body

Registrar of Societies (ROS) Companies Commission of Malaysia 
(SSM)

6 Financial 
Reporting

Financial reporting is done based on 
ROS requirements, with audited financial 
statements submitted to ROS annually. 
The level of disclosure and compliance 
is less stringent compared to companies 
under SSM.

Must comply with the Companies Act 
2016, which requires statutory audits, 
annual financial statements, and 
submission of reports to SSM. Financial 
records must follow Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (MFRS) or Private 
Entity Reporting Standards (PERS), 
depending on company size. Greater 
transparency and accountability are 
expected.

7 Tax Status Annual membership fees are generally 
not taxable as societies are considered 
non-profit entities under ROS. Other 
income sources may be taxable unless an 
exemption is granted.

IICM Berhad, as a CLBG under SSM, 
does not automatically qualify for tax 
exemption. However, it may apply for 
exemptions.

8 Tax Calculation Under ROS, membership fees are not 
taxable, and members only pay the annual 
membership fee.

Since IICM Berhad qualifies as an SME 
(company with paid-up capital of RM2.5 
million or less and annual revenue below 
RM50 million), the tax treatment for a 
Company Limited by Guarantee (CLBG) 
under SSM follows the SME corporate tax 
rate structure in Malaysia.
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No. Key Area Current (Association under ROS) After Transition (CLBG under SSM)

9 Membership 
Structure

IIC has a tiered membership structure 
based on Assets Under Management 
(AUM):
• Tier 1: AUM ≥ RM 100 billion
• Tier 2: AUM < RM 100 billion
• Tier 3: Industry Group

All members have voting rights and 
can appoint a proxy from the same 
organization. Members play a direct role 
in governance, including electing council 
members.

Membership will be categorised into two 
classes:

(i) Ordinary Members

- Institutional investors, asset owners, 
and fund managers.
• Tier 1: AUM ≥ RM 100 billion
• Tier 2: AUM < RM 100 billion
• Tier 3: Industry Group

- Ordinary Members retain voting 
rights, allowing them to vote on board 
elections, resolutions, and policies.

(ii) Associate Members

- Open to PLCs, private companies, 
associations, foreign entities, and 
educational institutions. Must adopt 
MCII for admission.

- Associate Members do not have 
voting rights but may participate 
in discussions and attend AGMs. 
Their role is advisory, without direct 
governance influence.

10 Fundraising & 
Grants

• Can receive donations, sponsorships, 
and grants, but subject to ROS 
regulations. 

• Limited ability to engage in large-scale 
fundraising activities, as societies are 
generally restricted from commercial 
ventures. 

• No direct tax deductibility for donors. 

• Funding largely depends on 
membership fees and sponsorships.

• Can engage in fundraising and receive 
grants more flexibly. 

• May conduct commercial activities to 
generate revenue, provided it aligns with 
the company’s objectives. 

• If granted tax exemption under 
Subsection 44(6) of ITA 1967, donations 
received may be tax-deductible for 
donors, making fundraising more 
attractive.

 
• Can apply for government and private 

sector grants, with better eligibility due 
to CLBG’s corporate structure.

11 Liability of 
Members

• Members of IIC under ROS have 
unlimited liability, meaning they may be 
personally liable for any debts or legal 
issues incurred by the society.

 
• The society and its members are not 

separate legal entities, so personal 
assets may be at risk in legal disputes.

• IICM Berhad as a CLBG is a separate 
legal entity, meaning members have 
limited liability.

 
• Members are not personally liable for 

the company’s debts or obligations, 
except for any unpaid membership fees 
or guarantees they have committed. 

• Provides better legal protection for 
members compared to the ROS 
structure.
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No. Key Area Current (Association under ROS) After Transition (CLBG under SSM)

12 Compliance & 
Filing

• Must comply with Registrar of Societies 
(ROS) Act 1966. 

• Annual submission of financial 
statements and activity reports to ROS. 

• Meeting minutes and constitution 
changes must be submitted for 
approval.

• Must comply with Companies Act 2016 
(as a Company Limited by Guarantee - 
CLBG). 

• Annual Return must be submitted to 
SSM. 

• Audited Financial Statements must be 
filed with SSM. 

• Board resolutions must be documented 
and kept for regulatory audits.

13 Contracts & 
Agreements

• Limited legal standing as an 
association. 

• Can enter into contracts, but the liability 
is on office bearers personally. 

• Contracts may require personal 
guarantees from office bearers.

• As a separate legal entity, IICM Berhad 
can enter contracts in its own name. 

• No personal liability for directors unless 
proven misconduct. 

• Stronger legal standing for agreements 
with vendors, partners, and government 
agencies.

14 Operational 
Autonomy

• Must operate within the ROS-approved 
constitution. 

• Major decisions (e.g., funding, projects, 
partnerships) may need approval from 
AGM.

• More restrictive due to constitutional 
constraints.

• Greater operational flexibility under 
Companies Act 2016. 

• Decisions can be made via Board 
Resolutions, reducing delays. 

• Can freely enter agreements, apply for 
grants, and expand operations.

15 Dissolution 
Process

• Members must vote to dissolve the 
association.

 
• Any remaining funds/assets must 

be distributed as per constitution or 
donated. 

• Requires approval from ROS.

• Dissolution follows Companies Act 
2016. 

• Must settle all liabilities before closing. 

• Remaining assets must be transferred 
to another CLBG or an approved charity 
(cannot be distributed to members). 

• Requires approval from SSM and the 
High Court (if necessary).
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Feature Article 2

Developing a Local Proxy Voting Platform

Overview

In line with the Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC)’s continued commitment to strengthening corporate 
governance and empowering shareholder engagement, 2024 marked a pivotal milestone with the commencement 
of the Proxy Voting Platform (PVP) project. This strategic initiative aims to provide a cost-effective, local alternative 
to foreign proxy advisory services, reinforcing IIC’s role in building a more inclusive, transparent and independent 
Malaysian capital market ecosystem.

Background and Objectives

The Proxy Voting Platform (PVP) was conceived in response to the growing need for a locally developed solution 
that supports institutional investors in making informed, consistent and effective voting decisions during 
shareholder meetings. 

Currently, many IIC members rely on expensive foreign-based proxy advisory services such as Institutional 
Shareholder Services (ISS) and Glass Lewis, while others depend on their limited in-house research capabilities. 
This PVP seeks to reduce this dependency,  foster local expertise and enhance transparency in the proxy voting 
process.

With funding support from the Capital Market Development Fund (CMDF) over the 2024–2026 period, the initiative 
will be implemented in two phases:

• Phase I: Development of a central repository for proxy voting outcomes, allowing stakeholders to access and 
analyse voting records and trends across companies. This phase constitutes 60% of the overall project and is 
expected to be completed by the end of the second of 2025.

• Phase II: Full deployment of a digital proxy voting platform, enabling real-time voting, enhancing investor 
participation, and improving the efficiency and accountability of the voting process. This phase represents the 
remaining 40% of the project and is targeted for completion by early 2026.

This platform is envisioned to benefit not only IIC members but also other fund managers, whom may consider 
adopting in their capacity as asset managers. Once fully operational, the Proxy Voting Platform will help 
standardise and streamline the proxy voting process across the industry.

While CMDF’s support covers the development cost, IIC will assume responsibility for the platform’s long-term 
maintenance and management, reinforcing its leadership in governance reform and sustainable investing.

Milestones and Progress in 2024

The Proxy Voting Platform project made substantial progress in 2024, transitioning from a conceptual idea 
into an actively developing solution. With the support of the Capital Market Development Fund (CMDF) and the 
commitment from the dedicated Working Group (WG), several key milestones were achieved throughout the year, 
as shown in the summary below.
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Looking Ahead

As the Proxy Voting Platform enters its implementation phase, IIC remains focused on ensuring the initiative 
delivers long-term value to members and the wider investment community. Several strategic efforts are already in 
motion to support the platform’s sustainability and effectiveness:

Strategic Collaboration with Bursa Malaysia

• IIC is exploring a working relationship with Bursa Malaysia, especially to integrate its Application Programming 
Interface (API) into the platform. This collaboration is crucial for streamlining data access and automating the 
retrieval of voting information, which would significantly improve operational efficiency. This initiative aligns with 
Bursa Malaysia’s broader objectives of enhancing market transparency, promoting investor stewardship, and 
advancing responsible investing in Malaysia. 

Monetisation Strategy and Long-Term Sustainability

• To ensure the platform’s ongoing viability, IIC is proactively evaluating monetisation models that strike a balance 
between affordability for members and financial sustainability.  These models will help support platform 
operation, maintenance and future enhancements.

Conclusion

The Proxy Voting Platform represents a significant leap forward in Malaysia’s investor stewardship landscape. By 
empowering institutional investors with a local, efficient, and transparent voting tool, IIC is advancing its mission to 
promote sound governance and responsible investment practices.
Through collaborative efforts, strategic foresight, and member engagement, the Proxy Voting Platform is poised to 
become a cornerstone of Malaysia’s capital market infrastructure - one that continues to deliver impact well into 
the future.
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Moving Forward

In reflecting on 2024, the Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) continued to strengthen its role 
as a catalyst for corporate governance, sustainable investing, and responsible stewardship within 
the Malaysian capital market.  Now, as we move further into 2025, the year holds special significance 
- it marks a decade since IIC’s inception and the journey we have taken together to foster a more 
accountable and resilient investment landscape.

To commemorate this milestone, IIC will host a 10th Anniversary Dinner in July 2025. This momentous 
occasion will celebrate our collective achievements, honour the invaluable contributions of our 
members, and reaffirm our shared vision for the future. We warmly invite all members to take part in 
this celebration, as we reflect on the progress made and look ahead to new possibilities with renewed 
purpose and unity.

In the year ahead, IIC remains steadfast in its commitment to delivering value to our members. We will 
continue to foster meaningful collaboration with local and international experts, bringing forward a 
curated series of webinars and technical workshops. These initiatives aim to equip our members with 
the insights and tools needed to navigate the dynamic challenges shaping the investment ecosystem. 
We also encourage members to share their ideas and recommendations for speakers and trainers to 
further enrich the quality and relevance of our programmes.

A key highlight of 2025 will be the IIC Members’ Dialogue Series—a dedicated platform for in-depth 
engagement on critical capital market issues. This series will serve as a cornerstone for peer learning, 
constructive dialogue, and collaborative solutions, reinforcing our commitment to advancing corporate 
governance and ESG leadership in Malaysia.

Our progress continues alongside IIC’s transformation into a Company Limited by Guarantee 
(CLBG), a move that will further strengthen our governance structure and operational effectiveness. 
Complementing this evolution is the upcoming launch of the Proxy Voting Platform, supported by the 
Capital Market Development Fund (CMDF) – a pivotal step toward building a modern, resilient, and 
impactful institution.

As we embrace this new chapter, we invite all stakeholders to move forward with us - to champion 
excellence, drive innovation, and shape a capital market that is inclusive, sustainable, and future-ready.

Together, let us forge the next decade of IIC with unity, resolve, and a shared commitment to long-term 
value creation.
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Report of the Treasurer for
the Financial Year 2024

  Financial Statements

The Council Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
of the Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (IIC) in accordance with the provisions of the Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 
requirements of the Societies Act 1966.

  Financial Performance

For the financial year 2024, IIC recorded total revenue of RM1,284,614, derived from membership and 
joining fees, contributions or commissions from events, and grants received in cash.

During the financial year, IIC incurred operating expenditures amounting to RM841,517, which mainly 
consisted of staff expenses, including adviser fees, event management, professional expenses, proxy 
voting expenses, website expenses, office rental expenses, as well as materials and supplies. 

Overall, during its seventh year of operation, IIC generated a net surplus of RM440,326 and reported a 
cash balance of RM1,305,106 at the year’s end.

In order to ensure the Council’s continued financial sustainability and capacity to deliver greater value 
to its members, the Council Board has decided to implement a revision of the annual membership fees 
effective January 2025. This adjustment will help broaden the Council’s revenue base, allowing IIC to 
strengthen its high-quality programmes, training, and services in line with members’ evolving needs.
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Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Registered under the Societies Act, 1966)

COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The Council Board Members hereby submit the report and the audited financial statements of the 
Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (the “Council”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Council, which was formed on 3 July 2015 is to represent the interests 
of institutional investors on matters affecting them and to act as a conduit between policy makers, 
regulators and institutional investors in relation to broader corporate governance issues by providing 
vision and strategic direction in relation to the development of the Institutional Investors Council and 
future enhancement to the Malaysian Code for Institutional Investors (“MCII”). The Council also advocates, 
provides guidance and monitors the adoption of the MCII among institutional investors, encourages 
institutional investors to become signatories of the MCII as well as to be the platform to influence good 
corporate governance culture by public listed companies. The Council was formally established under 
the Societies Act 1966 on 29 December 2017.

 
FINANCIAL RESULTS

                                                                                                                                                                               RM  

Net surplus for the financial year                                                                                                     RM 440,326
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Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Registered under the Societies Act, 1966)

COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS

The Council Board Members who served the Council during the financial year and during the period from the 
end of the financial year to the date of the report are:
 
Nik Amlizan Mohamed Chairman
lsmitz Matthew De Alwis Vice Chairman
Husaini Hussin Treasurer
Rejina Rahim Secretary
Rizal Rickman Ramli Council Member
(Resigned on 6 January 2025)
Rohaya Mohammad Yusof Council Member
Syhiful Zamri Abdul Azid Council Member
Munirah Khairuddin Council Member
Mushida Muhammad Council Member
(Resigned on 12 March 2025)
Muhammad Fitri Othman Council Member
(Resigned on 1 September 2024)
Ahmad Farouk Mohamed Council Member
(Appointed 1 October 2024)
Amran Hafiz Affifudin Council Member
(Resigned on 27 March 2024)
Hisham Hamdan Council Member
(Appointed 1 April 2024)
Raymond Tang Chee Kin Council Member
(Retired on 30 June 2024)
Anouk Hanafiah Council Member
(Appointed on 1 July 2024)
Gerald Michael Ambrose Council Member
(Retired on 31 May 2024)
Mohd Farid Kamarudin Council Member
(Appointed on 1 June 2024)
Mohd Najman Md Isa Council Member
(Appointed on 20 May 2024)
Sharifatu Laila Council Member
(Resigned on 1 March 2024)
Meor Khairi Meor Mohd Bazid Council Member
(Appointed on 29 May 2024)
 
OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a) Before the financial statements of the Council were prepared, the Council Board Members took 
reasonable steps:

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the 
making of provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had 
been written off and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii) to ensure that any current assets, which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course 
of business including the values of current assets as shown in the accounting records of the 
Council had been written down to an amount which the current assets might be expected so to 
realise.
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Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Registered under the Societies Act, 1966)

COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) At the date of this report, the Council Board Members are not aware of any circumstances:

(i) which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for 
doubtful debts inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(ii) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the 
Council misleading; or

(iii) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets 
or liabilities of the Council misleading or inappropriate.

(c) At the date of this report:

(i) there are no charges on the assets of the Council which have arisen since the end of the financial 
year which secures the liabilities of any other person; and

(ii) there are no contingent liabilities in the Council which have arisen since the end of the financial 
year.

(d) No contingent or other liability of the Council has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable 
within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Council 
Board Members, will or may affect the ability of the Council to meet its obligations when they fall due.

(e) At the date of this report, the Council Board Members are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise 
dealt with in this report or the financial statements of the Council which would render any amount 
stated in the respective financial statements misleading.

(f) In the opinion of the Council Board Members:

(i) the results of the operations of the Council during the financial year were not substantially 
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and

(ii) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the 
results of the operations of the Council for the financial year in which this report is made.
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Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Registered under the Societies Act, 1966)

COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The amount of statutory audit fee amounted to RM13,500 for the financial year ended 31 December
2024.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146), have expressed their willingness to 
accept the appointment as auditors.

This report was approved by the Council Board Members on 13 June 2025. Signed on behalf of the Council 
Board Members:

   
 

NIK AMLIZAN MOHAMED     ISMITZ MATTHEW DE ALWIS
COUNCIL BOARD MEMBER    COUNCIL BOARD MEMBER
 

Kuala Lumpur
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Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Registered under the Societies Act, 1966)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

REVENUE

Membership fees
Joining fees
Contribution/Commission from events
Grant received in cash

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other Income

Total income

LESS:EXPENSES

Operating expenses

Total expenses

Surplus before taxation

Tax expense

Net surplus for the financial year

Note

4
8

5

6

2024
RM

330,000
6,000

494,273
386,820

1,217,093

67,521

67,521

1,284,614

(841,517)

(841,517)

443,097

(2,771)

440,326

2023
RM

310,000
-
-
-

310,000

-

-

-

(243,745)

(243,745)

66,255

-

66,255

The accompanying material accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these 
financial statements.
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Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Registered under the Societies Act, 1966)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

CURRENT ASSET

Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed deposit at licensed bank
Office equipment

LESS: CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred grant income received in cash
Payables
Deferred income
Provision for taxation

NET ASSETS

FINANCED BY:
Accumulated funds

Note

7

8
9

10
6

2024
RM

785,995
500,000

19,111

1,305,106

 

463,180
15,546
15,000

2,771

496,497

808,609

 
808,609

2023
RM

375,783
-
-

375,783

-
7,500

-
-

7,500

368,283

368,283

The accompanying material accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these 
financial statements.
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Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

As at 1 January 2024
Net surplus for the financial year

As at 31 December 2024

As at 1 January 2023
Net surplus for the financial year

As at 31 December 2023

Total
RM

368,283
440,326

808,609

302,028
66,255

368,283

The accompanying material accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these 
financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The accompanying material accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these 
financial statements.

Cash flows from operating activities

Membership fees received
Joining fees received
Contribution from events
Grant received in cash
Advance fee
Other income
Payment for adviser fee
Payment for staff expenses
Payment for payroll service
Payment for professional expenses
Payment for other staff expenses
Payment for material and supplies
Payment for ICGN membership
Payment for other operating expenses
Payment for event management
Payment for office rental expenses
Payment for Proxy Voting Project expenses
Payment for stamping expenses
Payment for CLBG application expenses
Payment for Website expenses

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) from operating 
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for fixed deposits
Purchase of equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

2024
RM

330,000
6,000

494,273
850,000

15,000
67,521

(135,617)
(233,419)

(5,082)
(52,285)
(10,308)

(5,284)
(3,730)
(5,758)

(222,984)
(12,000)
(86,910)

(7,152)
(14,040)
(26,162)

942,063

(500,000)
(31,851)

(531,851)

410,212

375,783

785,995

2023
RM

330,000
-
-
-
-
-

(119,187)
(119,336)

(1,548)
(51,890)

-
(11,850)

(3,686)
(4,310)

(157,175)
(385)

-
-
-
-

(139,367)

-
-

-

(139,367)

515,150

375,783
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The Council is incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia under the Societies Act 1966 on 29 December 
2017.

The principal activities of the Council are to represent the interests of institutional investors on matters 
affecting them and to act as a conduit between policy makers, regulators and institutional investors in 
relation to broader corporate governance issues by providing vision and strategic direction in relation 
to the development of the Institutional Investors Council and future enhancement to the Malaysian 
Code for Institutional Investors (“MCII”). The Council also advocates, provides guidance and monitors 
the adoption of the MCII among institutional investors, encourages institutional investors to become 
signatories of the MCII as well as to be the platform to influence good corporate governance culture by 
public listed companies.

The address of the registered office of the Council is Level 13A, Bangunan Tierra Crest, No.3A, Jalan SS 
6/3, 47301 Pertaling Jaya, Selangor.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Council incurred a surplus of RM440,326 (2023: RM66,255) during the financial year ended 31 
December 2024. The appropriateness of preparing the financial statements on a going concern basis 
is dependent on the membership fees collected from the Council members.

The financial statements of the Council have been prepared in accordance with the Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Societies Act 1966 in Malaysia.

The financial statements of the Council have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless 
otherwise indicated in this summary of material accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. It also requires Board Members to 
exercise their judgement in process of applying the Council’s accounting policies. Although these 
estimates and judgement are based on the Board Members’ best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual result may differ. There were no critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
significant to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective and applicable 
to the Council

Below are the annual improvements and amendments to MFRS effective for the financial year beginning 
1 January 2024:

• Amendments to MFRS 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’

The adoption of other amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in 
prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are applicable to the Council 
but not yet effective:

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for the 
financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

• Amendments to MFRS 9 and MFRS 7 ‘Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of 
Financial Instruments’ (effective 1 January 2026) have:

o require financial assets to be derecognised on the date the contractual rights to the cash 
flows expire and financial liabilities to be derecognised when obligation under the contract 
ls discharged (i.e. settlement date). In addition, there is an optional exception to derecognise 
financial liabilitieis before the settlement date for settlement using electronic payment 
systems (if specified criteria are met);

o clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financial asset meets the solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion;

o add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual terms that can change cash 
flows (such as some financial instruments with features linked to the achievement of 
environment, social and governance targets); and

o update the disclosures for equity instruments desiganted at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are applicable to the Council 
but not yet effective (continued)

• Annual improvements to MFRS Accounting Standards for enhanced consistency (effective 1 
January 2026) have:

The annual improvements comprise the following amendments:

• Amendments to MFRS 7 on gain or loss on derecognition - obsolete cross-referencing is 
removed

• Additionally, the implementation guidance is revised to address the inconsistency within 
MFRS 7 on disclosure of deferred difference between fair value and transaction price. The 
amendments also clarify that the credit risk guidance does not cover all MFRS requirements.

• Amendments to MFRS 9 clarify that the derecognition principle of MFRS 9 should be applied 
by lessees to account for extinguished lease liabilities.

• In addition, the term “transaction price” as defined in MFRS 15 has also been removed from 
MFRS 9.

• Amendments to MFRS 10 resolve an inconsistency in determining whether a party is acting 
as a de facto agent.

• Amendments to MFRS 107 replace the term ‘cost method’ which is not a defined term in 
MFRS

An entity shall apply those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2026. Earlier application is permitted.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are applicable to the Council 
but not yet effective (continued)

• MFRS 18 ‘Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’ (effective 1 January 2027) 
replaces MFRS 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.

The new MFRS introduces a new structure of profit or loss statements.

(a) Income and expenses are classified into 3 main categories:

• Operating category which typically includes results from main business activities;
• Investing category that presents the results of investments in associates and joint 

ventures and other assets that generate a return largely independently of other 
resources; and

• Financing category that presents income and expenses from financing liabilities

(b) Entities are required to present two new specified subtotals:
 ‘Operating profit and loss’ and ‘Profit and loss before financing and income taxes’.

• Management-defined performance measures (“MPMs”) are disclosed in a single 
note and reconciled to the most similar specified subtotal in MFRS Accounting 
Standards.

• Changes to the guidance on aggregation and disaggregation which focus on 
grouping items based on their shared characteristics.

The adoption of the accounting standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to 
existing standard above are not expected to give rise to any material impact to the Council, except for 
the adoption of MFRS 18 of which the Council is in the midst of assessing the financial and disclosure 
impact.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in 
the financial statements.

2.2 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Council’s 
functional currency. All financial information is presented in RM and has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

2.3 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected.

There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Financial instruments
 

(i) Classification

The Council classifies its financial assets as those to be measured at amortised cost.

The Council classifies its financial assets based on both the Council’s business model 
for managing those financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial assets.

The Council classifies cash and cash equivalents and receivables as financial assets 
at amortised cost as these financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flows 
consisting of the amount outstanding.

The Council classifies payables and provision of taxation as financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost.

(ii) Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities, within the scope of MFRS 9, are recognised in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Council has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired.

Financial assets at amortised cost and other financial liabilities are subsequently carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(iii) Impairment

The Council measures credit risk and expected credit losses using probability of default 
and loss given default. Management considers both historical analysis and forward 
looking information In determining any expected credit loss. Management considers the 
probability of default to be close to zero as these instruments have a low risk of default and 
the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near 
term. As a result, no loss allowance has been recognised based on 12 month expected 
credit losses as any such impairment would be wholly insignificant to the Council.

Significant increase in credit risk

A significant increase in credit risk is defined by management as any contractual payment 
which is more than 30 days past due or a counterparty credit rating which has fallen below 
BBB/Baa.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Impairment (continued)

Definition of default and credit-impaired financial assets

The Council defines a financial instrument as default, which is fully aligned with the 
definition of credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

(i) Quantitative criteria:
Any contractual payment which is more than 90 days past due is considered credit 
impaired.

(ii) Qualitative criteria:
The debtor meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the debtor is in 
significant financial difficulty The Fund considers the following instances:
• the debtor is in breach of financial covenants
• concessions have been made by the lender relating to the debtor’s financial 

difficulty
• it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation
• the debtor is insolvent

Write-off

The Council writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical 
recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The 
assessment of no reasonable expectation of recovery is based on unavailability of debtor’s 
sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash flows to repay the amount. 
The Council may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off will result in impairment gains. 
There are no write-offs/recoveries during the financial year.

3.2 Equipment

All items of equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes expenditure that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset and other costs directly attributable to bringing the 
asset to working condition for its intended use.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment losses.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when the cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic 
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Council and the cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that are replaced is derecognised. The costs of 
the day-to-day servicing of equipment are recognised in statement of comprehensive income 
as incurred.

Depreciation on equipment is charged to statement of comprehensive income (unless it is 
included in the carrying amount of another asset) on a reducing balance method to write off 
the depreciable amount of the assets over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation of an asset 
does not cease when the asset becomes idle or is retired from active use unless the asset is fully 
depreciated. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are:

Computer hardware     40%

The depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the amounts, method and periods 
of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption 
of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of the equipment. Any changes are 
accounted for as a change in estimate.

When significant parts of an item of equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of equipment.

An item of equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of the asset, being the 
different between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount, is recognised in statement 
of comprehensive income.

Fully depreciated equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in 
use and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of these equipment.
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3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3 Income Taxes

Current tax expense is determined according to Malaysian tax laws and includes all taxes based 
upon the taxable profits.

3.4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank.

3.5 Government grants

Grants from government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Council will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are recognised in profit or loss over the period to match the 
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

3.6 Payables

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using effective interest method.

3.7 Revenue Recognition

The Council recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, and 
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have 
been met for each of the Council’s activities as described below.

(i) Joining fees

Joining fees are recognised upon approval of admission to the Council by the Council 
Board of which the fees are based on the size of Asset Under Management (“AUM”) of the 
approved member as stipulated in the Constitution.

(ii) Membership fees

Annual subscription on fees charged to all members are recognised on an accrual basis. 
Such fees are determined by the Council Board as stipulated in the Constitution.

(iii) Contribution/Commission from event fees

Income earned from contribution made by any of the members of the Council and income 
received from the Council’s activities and events are recognised when such income 
received.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

*Included in professional expenses is the statutory audit fees amounting to RM13,500 (2023: RM5,000).

2024
RM

427,672
56,526

75
10,000

494,273

2024
RM

233,419
5,082

135,617
10,308
60,331

5,284
3,730
5,758

222,984
12,000
14,040

7,152
86,910
26,162
12,740

841,517

2023
RM

-
-
-
-

-

2023
RM

113,602
1,548

79,187
-

39,890
2,505
3,686
3,327

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

243,745

4 CONTRIBUTION/COMMISSION FROM EVENTS

Contribution from IIC-SIDC Governance
Sponsorship
Paid Participation
Training Fee 
Late Fees Collected

5 OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff expenses
Payroll services
Adviser fee
Other staff expenses 
Professional expenses* 
Material and supplies 
ICGN membership 
Other operating expenses 
Event management 
Office rental expenses 
CLBG application expenses 
Stamping expenses
Proxy Voting Project expenses
Website expenses
Depreciation for equipment
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6 TAXATION

The Council was established for the purpose of represent the interests of institutional investors on 
matters affecting them and to act as a conduit between policy makers, regulators and institutional 
investors in relation to broader corporate governance issues by providing vision and strategic direction 
in relation to the development of the Institutional Investors Council and future enhancement to the MCII. 
Pursuant to the subsection 53A(2) of the Income Tax Act 1967,income arising from the transaction with 
members is not subject to taxation.

The taxable income of a club is attributed to taxable incomes and related expenses arising from non  
members, taxed at scale rates that are applicable to individuals as in Paragraph 1, Part, Schedule 1 of 
the Income Tax Act.

 

Income tax for current financial year

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to the surplus before taxation at the statutory tax rate 
to income tax expense at the effective tax rate of the Council is as follows:

Surplus before taxation

Tax at:
Fixed amount for first RMS0,000
Statutory tax rate of 11% on remaining

Tax effects of:
Net income exempted from income tax

Income tax expense for the financial year

7 FIXED DEPOSITS AT LICENSED BANK

Fixed Deposit

Society No.
 PPM-006-14-29122017

INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Registered under the Societies Act, 1966)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 (CONTINUED)

2024
RM

2,771

2024
RM

443,097

1,500
43,241

44,741

(41,970)

2,771

2024
RM

500,000

2023
RM

-

2023
RM

66,255

1,500
1,788

3,288

(3,288)

-

2023
RM

-
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2024
RM

850,000
(386,820)

463,180

2024
RM

15,546

15,546

2024
RM

15,000

15,000

2023
RM

-
-

-

2023
RM

7,500

7,500

2023
RM

-

-

8 DEFERRED GRANT INCOME RECEIVED IN CASH

At 1 January
Grant in cash received during the financial year
Grant in cash recognised as income during the financial year

At 31 December

9 PAYABLES

Professional fees payable

10 Deferred Income

Advance payment received from member
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11. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Council’s overall financial risk management objective is to categorise the potential adverse effects 
of these factors to protect and enhanced the interest of its members.

Market risk

(i) Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or 
its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Council does 
not hold any debUequity instruments as at the date of the statement of financial position.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the cost or value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes 
in market profit rates. The Council’s comprises of deposits with financial institutions, which is short-
term in nature. Therefore, exposure to interest rate fluctuations is minimal.

(iii) Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Council is not exposed to foreign exchange risk on transactions and 
balances that are denominated in currencies other than Ringgit Malaysia.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. For the financial assets recognised in the statement of 
financial position, the maximum exposure to credit risk equals the carrying amount as at 31 December 
2024 and 31 December 2023.The Council does not have any major concentration of credit risk related 
to any individual customer or counterparty.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Council being unable to meet its obligations at reasonable cost or at any 
time. The Council’s liquidity risk management policy is to maintain sufficient cash balances to meet its 
daily working capital requirements.
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11. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued):

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Council’s financial liabilities at the reporting 
date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

31 December 2024 

Payables
Provision for taxation

31 December 2023 

Payables

Fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities of the Council at the date of the statement 
of financial position approximated their fair values due to the short-term nature of the financial 
instruments.

12. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Council manages it capital by maintaining an optimal capital structure so as to support its 
businesses and maximise council members value. To achieve this objective, the Council may make 
adjustments to the capital structure in view of changes in economic conditions.

13. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Council 
Board Members on 13 June 2025.

Below
1 year

RM

15,546
2,771

18,317

7,500

7,500

Contractual 
undiscounted
     cash flows

RM

15,546
2,771

18,317

7,500

7,500

Total
carrying
amount

RM

15,546
2,771

18,317

7,500

7,500
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STATEMENT BY COUNCIL BOARD MEMBERS

We, Nik Amlizan Mohamed and lsmitz Matthew De Alwis, two of the Council Board Members of Institutional 
Investors Council Malaysia., do hereby state that, in the oprnion of the Council Board Members, the 
accompanying financial statements set out on pages 5 to 22 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Council as at 31 December 2024 and financial performance of the Council for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2024 in acc;;ordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirement of the S0cieties Act, 1966 in Malaysia.

Signed on behalf of the Council Board Members in accordance with a resolution of the Council dated 13th 
June 2025.

NIK AMLIZAN MOHAMED     ISMITZ MATTHEW DE ALWIS
COUNCIL BOARD MEMBER    COUNCIL BOARD MEMBER
 

Kuala Lumpur

STATUTORY DECLARATION BY TREASURER

I, Husaini Bin Hussin, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Institutional 
Investors Council Malaysia, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 
5 to 22 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

HUSAINI BIN HUSSIN

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia on 13th June 2025.

Before me,

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(Society No. PPM-006-14-29122017)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of Institutional Investors Council Malaysia (“the Council”) give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council as at 31 December 2024, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Societies Act 
1966 in Malaysia.

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements of the Council, which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2024, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in accumulated 
funds and statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including material accounting policies, as set out on pages 5 to 22.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Council in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The Council Board Members are responsible for the other information.The other information comprises 
the Council Board Members’ Report, but does not include the financial statements of the Council and our 
auditors’ report thereon.

PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146), Chartered Accountants, Level 10, Menara TH 1 Sentral,
Jalan Rakyat, Kuala Lumpur Sentral, P.O. Box 10192, 50706 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
T: +60 (3) 2173 1188, F: +60 (3) 2173 1288, www.pwc.com/my
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(Society No. PPM-006-14-29122017)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Council does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Council, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements of the Council or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Council Board Members for the financial statements

The Council Board Members are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Council 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Societies Act 1966 in Malaysia. The Council Board 
Members are also responsible for such internal control as the Council Board Members determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Council that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Council, the Council Board Members are responsible for assessing 
the Council’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council Board Members either intend to liquidate 
the Council orto cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Council as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(Society No. PPM-006-14-29122017)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Council, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Council Board Members.

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council Board Members’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Council’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Council or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Council to cease to continue as a going concern.

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Council, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Council represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Council Board Members regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS COUNCIL MALAYSIA
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(Society No. PPM-006-14-29122017)

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Council, as a body, in accordance with Societies Act 1966 in 
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of 
this report.

 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS PLT   LEE TZE WOON KELVIN
LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146    03482/01/2026 J
Chartered Accountants     Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
13June 2025
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